IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC09-1860

TIMOTHY ROBINSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark S. Gruber
Florida Bar No. 0330541
Maria Perinetti
Florida Bar No. 0013837
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544
Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Timothy Robinson's motion for postconviction relief brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The episode from which this case arose occurred on November 19-20, 1988. On February 28, 1989, a grand jury returned an indictment for the Defendant on four counts of first degree murder, one count of attempted first degree murder, six counts of kidnapping with a firearm, two counts of sexual battery with a firearm, one count of conspiracy to traffic in more than 400 grams of cocaine, and two counts of robbery with a firearm. R. Vol. XII, 2101-2105.

Mr. Robinson was tried along with two of his co defendants, Michael Coleman and Darrell Frazier. The guilt phase trial began on May 22, 1989. The evidence presented at trial was summarized in *Coleman v. State*, 610 So. 2d 1283, 1284-1285 (Fla. 1992). On June 1, 1989, Mr. Robinson was found guilty as charged. R. Vol. XI, 1970-72. The penalty phase was conducted on June 2, 1989, ending with a six-to-six jury recommendation of a life sentence. R. Vol. XI, 2096-2097. The *Spencer*¹-type hearing took place on July 25, 1989. R. Vol. XIV, 2480-2508. The trial court overrode the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment and imposed a death sentence on September 26, 1989. R. Vol. XIV, 2562-2566. The written sentencing order and judgment and sentence are located at R. Vol.

¹ Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

XIV, 2582 -2587 and 2568-2581.

The judgment and sentence were affirmed at *Robinson v. State*, 610 So. 2d 1288 (Fla. 1992). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on February 28, 1994. *Robinson v. Florida*, 510 U.S. 1170 (1994).

Mr. Robinson filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on January 13, 2000 and a Third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on April 19, 2000. PC-R. Vol. Vol. V, 830-993; PC-R. Vol. VI, 994-1085; PC-R. Vol. X, 1867-1898. The State filed responses on February 25, 2000 and May 26, 2000. PC-R. Vol. IV-V, 671-818; PC-R. Vol. VI, 1109-1135. A case management conference was held on July 9, 2004. PC-R. Vol. VIII, 1354-1395. On September 13, 2004, the trial court issued an order granting an evidentiary hearing on Claims IIA and IIIA. PC-R. Vol. VIII, 1418-1419. Mr. Robinson filed a Supplement to Third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on August 25, 2008. PC-R. Vol. X, 1867-1898. The State filed its response on October 20, 2008. PC-R. Vol. X, 1918-1947. A case management conference regarding the August 25, 2008 motion was held on January 29, 2009. PC-R. Vol. XI, 1982-2038. On March 12, 2009, the trial court further ordered an evidentiary hearing on the amendment to Claim IIIA as presented in Defendant's Supplement to Third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence. PC-R. Vol. XI,

2087-2088.

An evidentiary hearing was held on April 21-23, 2009. Mr. Robinson formally abandoned Claim IIA at the evidentiary hearing. Evid. Vol. II, 362-363. Written closing arguments were filed by both parties. PC-R. Vol. XIII, 2376-2443, 2448-2493. On September 4, 2009, the trial court entered an order denying relief. PC-R. Vol. XIV-XVII, 2494-3271. A notice of appeal was timely filed on September 17, 2009. PC-R. Vol. XVII, 3272-3273.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Robinson presented seven witnesses at the evidentiary hearing held on April 21-23, 2009. The State presented one witness. Additionally, a deposition of Edward Robinson, Sr. was conducted on October 29, 2008, pursuant to the trial court's Order on Motion to Perpetuate Testimony dated October 6, 2008. PC-R. Vol. XI, 2107-2147; PC-R. Vol. X, 1916-1917. The facts elicited at the evidentiary hearing and through the deposition of Edward Robinson can be summarized as follows.

Edward Robinson, Sr.

Edward Robinson, Sr. is Timothy Robinson's father, although Edward suspects that Timothy is not his biological son. PC-R. Vol. XI, 2113. Edward and Mary, Timothy's mother, were together for approximately twenty years. *Id.* at

2114. According to Edward, they had six children. *Id.* at 2111.² Timothy's brother, Derrick, was Edward's favorite child. *Id.* at 2145. Having so many children was a financial burden for Edward. *Id.* at 2125. They lived in the projects in Liberty City for a long time, and it was "hectic." *Id.* at 2119. Edward smoked marijuana and there were drugs in the home when Timothy was growing up. *Id.* at 2120.

Edward was jealous of the attention that Timothy's mother received from other men, and he "didn't want her out of [his] sight." PC-R. Vol. XI, 2113-2114, 2121. He became angry when he could not control Mary and the children. *Id.* at 2121-2122. Edward and Mary argued in front of Timothy and his siblings all the time. *Id.* at 2117. Edward "would slap her around" or "attack her" in front of the children. *Id.* at 2121-2122. He recounted one incident in which he and Mary got into a big fight and he slapped her around in front of the children after a man nailed a warning on the door that someone in the house had a venereal disease. *Id.* at 2122. Edward recounted another incident that occurred after he and Mary separated. Edward was living with another woman in Opa Locka and Mary came to their home. *Id.* at 2116-2117. Mary shot Edward in the hip at point blank range.

² In reality, Edward and Mary Robinson had seven children. Edward neglected to list Edward G. Robinson, Jr.

The children often tried to intervene when their parents fought and, according to Edward, they always took their mother's side. PC-R. Vol. XI, 2117-2118. Timothy was especially protective of his siblings and his mother, and he tried to protect her when she fought with Edward. *Id.* at 2124-2125. Edward described how he felt when Timothy intervened to protect his mother:

I never saw him, he didn't exist when things like that were going on. I know he was there protesting whatever happened, but I couldn't see him. All I could see was my problem and for some reason I just ignored whatever he said. He was just the baby in the way, I guess, I don't know.

PC-R. Vol. XI, 2125.

Edward was the victim of horrible physical and verbal abuse at the hands of his alcoholic mother. PC-R. Vol. XI, 2134-2135. Although Edward denied hitting his own children, he described how he verbally abused, embarrassed, and insulted his children because of the profound and lasting effect that verbal abuse had on him as a child:

Well, something would happen and I tried to bring it to a level wherein they would feel it. I remember when I was a kid there where it started that I would remember being verbally abused. I can hardly ever remember being physically abused, but verbally I remember things that happen to me that I can't forget. It won't leave my head. It really hurt me verbal abuse for some reason and I figured this is the only way to get through to people. If you insult them and got on their nerves they will never forget it and it works. People listen to verbal

abuse but you can do something physically and they'll forget about it, but a verbal shellacking or whatever, beating you never forget, it sticks with you.

Id. at 2128.

Edward described Timothy as a quiet child who was also "bold," "aggressive," and "fearless." PC-R. Vol. XI, 2129. Edward did not understand Timothy. *Id.* at 2145. He recounted an incident when Timothy was ten or eleven years old and his eleven year old cousin came to visit. *Id.* at 2129-2130. Edward made each of his children fight their cousin, and according to Edward, "Timothy was the only one of them that seemed to enjoy it." *Id.* at 2130.

According to Edward, Timothy "had to prove something to somebody all the time. He was always proving how courageous he was . . ." PC-R. Vol. XI, 2133. When Timothy was twenty years old, Edward went to Mary's house to pick up his two younger children. *Id.* at 2131-2132. He and Mary got into an argument and Edward got into his car. *Id.* Timothy went outside and shot at the car multiple times before "putting the gun to his head and smiling like it was funny." *Id.*

Timothy's trial attorneys did not contact Edward prior to trial. PC-R. Vol. XI, 2137. He was living in Miami Gardens in 1989 and he would have been available to testify at trial. *Id*.

Ivory Baker

Ivory Baker dated Timothy's older sister, Teeshawn, for four or five years in the mid 1980s. Evid. Vol. I, 7. Timothy was approximately 15 to 18 years old when Ivory dated Teeshawn, and Ivory was two years older than Timothy. *Id.* at 7.

When he and Teeshawn were dating, Ivory spent approximately four or five days a week in the Robinson home, and he was a witness to many of the events that were happening in the Robinson home during that time period. Evid. Vol. I, 10. When he first met Edward Robinson, Sr., he thought Edward was just a man Mary was dating, and not her children's father. *Id.* at 8. Edward did not communicate with Mary or the children. *Id.* at 8. Edward acted as though his wife and children were beneath him, and he always used profanity and insults. *Id.* at 9. He even cursed at his twins, who were four or five years old, and he spoke to them like they were adults. *Id.* at 9. Ivory never heard Edward say anything positive to Timothy, nor did he ever see Edward show Timothy any affection. *Id.* at 10. During the course of the four or five years that Ivory dated Teeshawn, Edward said about fifty words to Ivory, if that. *Id.* at 10.

Edward was a very violent man, and Ivory feared for Teeshawn's safety when she was living in Edward's house. Evid. Vol. I, 12, 19-20. Edward had guns in the home. *Id.* at 18. Everyone in the Robinson home tried to ignore Edward, but

Edward provoked them to "come into his world" and "give him a reason for his actions." *Id.* At 12. Any little thing, such as a child dropping a toy or running through the house, would set Edward off, causing him to use profanity and be loud. *Id.* at 12. Edward was also verbally abusive toward Mary, and he spoke to her like she was "somebody off the streets." *Id.* at 15. One time Ivory was inside the Robinson house and Edward was on the side of the house shooting a gun. *Id.* at 16. On another occasion, Edward went into the backyard in his underwear and shot a gun. *Id.* at 19. Ivory recalled another incident when Timothy's brother was approximately five or six years old and Edward beat him as though he was a grown man. *Id.* at 17. On several occasions, Edward threatened to kill his entire family, and the family took these threats seriously. *Id.* at 19.

While Ivory witnessed a lot of violent behavior on the part of Edward Robinson, he believed that things were even worse when he was not present, because of what he could hear when he was on the phone with Teeshawn. Evid. Vol. I, 38. Likewise, on several occasions when the police were called to the home, Edward would change and act as though he was provoked. *Id.* at 18.

Mary and the children routinely left and stayed with friends and relatives when things became violent in the Robinson home. Evid. Vol. I, 17. They often left the home early in the morning and stayed away until midnight in an effort to

avoid Edward. *Id.* at 18. When Timothy visited Ivory's house, which was peaceful and loving, he did not want to leave. *Id.* at 22. On one occasion, Mary and the children stayed with Ivory and his mother for several weeks after Edward threatened his family with a gun. *Id.* at 21.

Edward also exposed his children to drugs. Evid. Vol. I, 10. He smoked marijuana in front of the children, and Ivory saw him smoking marijuana every time he went to the Robinson home. *Id.* at 10-11. When Edward smoked marijuana, he acted "like no one else in the world existed." *Id.* at 11. Edward also drank alcohol practically every time he smoked marijuana. *Id.* at 11. When Edward drank alcohol, he became more aggressive. *Id.* at 12. Although Ivory did not see Edward use any other illegal drugs, he suspected that Edward was using drugs when he locked himself in his room and emerged looking zoned out and paranoid. *Id.* at 14.

Ivory further described Edward's bizarre behavior. Sometimes Edward came out of his room in his underwear in front of the children. Evid. Vol. I, 9. Ivory also saw Edward walk around the house or in the yard naked two or three times, not doing anything to cover up when he saw his children. *Id.* at 14-15. If anyone said anything to him, Edward would respond by saying "This is my motherfucking house," or threatening to kill whoever dared to challenge him. *Id.*

at 9. Edward's family tried not to respond to his actions, because when they did it "triggered him to go to the next level." *Id.* at 19.

The death of Timothy's older brother, Derek, was a "big blow" to the family. Evid. Vol. I, 23. Timothy and Derek were very protective of their mother and siblings. *Id.* at 17, 22. Derek took on the role of father in the family, and he helped purchase a home for his mother to get her away from Edward. *Id.* at 23, 28-29. Although Edward did not communicate with Derek, Derek stood up to his father and everyone looked up to him. *Id.* at 23-24.

Timothy's trial attorneys did not contact Ivory prior to trial. Evid. Vol. I, 32. He was living in Tallahassee in 1989 and he would have been available to testify at trial. *Id*.

Gloria Baker

Gloria Baker is a foster mother and a retired school bus driver. Evid. Vol. I, 41. She became acquainted with the Robinson family when her son, Ivory Baker, dated Timothy's older sister Teeshawn for approximately four years. *Id.* at 41-43.

Gloria described Edward Robinson as a "very mean, hateful person." Evid. Vol. I, 45. He had no relationship with his children. *Id.* at 45. She never heard the Robinson children say anything positive about their father, only negative things. *Id.* at 45. The children were afraid of Edward. *Id.* at 46. He set an example of

violence. *Id.* at 46. It was apparent that Ivory was very afraid for Teeshawn's safety in the Robinson home. *Id.* at 49.

When Ivory and Teeshawn first started dating, Ivory spent a lot of time at the Robinson home. Evid. Vol. I, 42. After a while, Ivory and Teeshawn began spending more time at the Baker home. *Id.* at 42. Timothy and Teeshawn were very close, and Timothy would also come to Gloria's house sometimes. *Id.* at 43.

Gloria recalled instances where Teeshawn and Timothy tried to stay at her home to avoid their father. When Teeshawn was at Gloria's house and Gloria told her it was time to go home, she would find excuses not to go home. Evid. Vol. I, 46-47. When Timothy came over, Gloria would tell Ivory to make everyone leave and Timothy would sneak back in during the night. *Id.* at 47.

Gloria came to know Mary Robinson through Ivory's dating relationship with Teeshawn. Mary was a good, loving mother. Evid. Vol. I, 64. During the time Teeshawn and Ivory were dating, Mary worked as a custodian at Carol City Elementary School. *Id.* at 43. Sometimes she saw Mary and the children walking in the rain or in the dark in the morning and Gloria picked them up in her school bus. *Id.* at 44. Gloria described Mary Robinson as a battered woman. *Id.* at 48. With Mary and Edward, "[t]here was a lot of anger and a lot of arguing, a lot of threatening." *Id.* at 48.

Mary and the children would often leave the home and stay with friends and family. Evid. Vol. I, 53. Gloria recalled one time when Mary and the children stayed with her in her home for approximately one month. *Id.* at 51. Ivory was on the phone with Teeshawn one evening and Gloria heard Ivory say he was tired of Edward's abuse and arguing. *Id.* at 49, 51. Ivory told Teeshawn to get out of the way in case Edward shoots and that he would be right there. *Id.* at 50. Ivory drove to the Robinson home and Gloria followed him in a separate car. *Id.* at 50. Gloria described what happened next:

When I got halfway down the street, Mary and the kids was standing in the street and I stopped and asked her what's going on, and she said that man down there with a gun. He's talking about killing all of us and that and that. I said, where is my child? She said, I don't know. I said, oh. So I said, Mary, ya'll get in the car, get in the car and let's go. She was standing there hesitating. I said, Mary, come on. I said, if you don't go put the kids in the car. So they got in the car. And as I started past the house I saw him in the yard with a gun. So instead of me going forward, I backed up and I had taken them home with me and I kept them.

Id. at 51.

Timothy did not come with her at that time because he was hiding in a shed behind the house. *Id.* at 51. He came to her house later when he found out his mother and sisters were there. *Id.* at 52.

While Mary was staying with her, Gloria attempted to help her get away from Edward. She took her to Opa Locka City Hall to a program that helped

battered women find housing. Evid. Vol. I, 52. When she was not working, Gloria tried to help Mary find low income housing. *Id.* at 52. Despite Gloria's help, however, Mary went back to Edward. *Id.* at 53.

Mary eventually left Edward for good when her son, Derek, bought her a house. Evid. Vol. I, 54. Derek was very protective of his mother. *Id.* at 54. He earned the money to purchase the house from selling drugs. *Id.* at 54. Even after she had her own house, however, Mary would sometimes go back to Edward and leave Teeshawn in charge of her younger brothers and sisters. *Id.* at 54.

Timothy's trial attorneys did not contact Gloria prior to trial. Evid. Vol. I, 55. She was living in Miami in 1989 and she would have been available to testify at trial. *Id.* at 40, 55.

Richard Delancey

Richard Delancey is Timothy Robinson's paternal uncle and Edward Robinson, Sr.'s younger brother. Evid. Vol. I, 68. Although they have different fathers, Richard and Edward grew up together. *Id.* at 72, 83. Richard and Edward's mother married Richard's father, but she never married Edward's father, and this bothered Edward. *Id.* at 86-87. Eventually, Edward grew to hate their mother. *Id.* at 87.

When Richard was seventeen years old, his mother was incarcerated and he

went to stay with Edward and Mary. Evid. Vol. I, 68-69. Timothy was four or five years old at the time. *Id.* at 69. Richard lived with Edward and Mary for three and a half to four and a half years in the projects in Liberty City. *Id.* at 69-70. He believes that the family was on some kind of government assistance at the time, such as food stamps. *Id.* at 72.

Edward had an extensive history of drug use. The drugs made him "paranoid" and "emotionally damaged." Evid. Vol. I, 81. Before Timothy was born, Edward's drug of choice was heroin. *Id.* at 81. Aside from using heroin, he also sold it. *Id.* at 83. After Timothy was born, Edward used cocaine, alcohol, and marijuana. *Id.* at 85. He would be high in the presence of his children, and he smoked marijuana and drank in front of them. *Id.* at 85. The cocaine made him act "irrational," "moody", and argumentative. *Id.* at 84. Edward was especially bad when he combined cocaine and alcohol. *Id.* at 85. The only time Edward was not on drugs was when he went to work. *Id.* at 84.

Edward glorified drugs and criminal activity in front of his children. Evid. Vol. I, 79. He lived the "gangster lifestyle," pimping prostitutes and selling drugs. *Id.* at 97-98. He did not teach his children to value education. *Id.* at 80. Edward believed that if a person did not have an education to make money, he should get money the best way he can, even if it meant selling drugs or robbing people. *Id.* at

79. Edward glorified the main character in the movie *Super Fly*, who was a drug dealer. *Id.* at 80. He said that the character "did what he had to do because he wasn't given the opportunity to abide by the rules of society to achieve, so he went and he sold drugs." *Id.* at 80. According to Richard, Edward started arguments with Mary to give him an excuse to get out of the house and do what he wanted to do, such as see other women or get drugs. *Id.* at 78.

Richard described his brother Edward as "a number of deranged personalities." Evid. Vol. I, 72. He was "explosive" and "cruel." *Id.* at 72. He acted enraged more often than he acted normal. *Id.* at 119. When things didn't go Edward's way, he took it out on the people around him. *Id.* at 72. "If you did anything to him you paid one way or another." *Id.* at 72. Edward did not tolerate people who disagreed with him. *Id.* at 73. He often resorted to verbal abuse and insults, and he used very harsh language, regardless of whom he was speaking to. *Id.* at 73. "He would just say what he had to say to make you feel that you were inferior or bad." *Id.* at 73. Edward and Richard would often argue in front of the children. *Id.* at 74-75.

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