#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TIMOTHY A. ROBINSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC09-1860

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Here, in contrast, Robinson's counsels used Dr. Larson's evidence and used it well. Here no "great risk" resulted. Here, in contrast, counsel knew going into the penalty phase that Robinson was uncooperative and deceptive with the psychologist and nothing put them on reasonable notice that they should pursue additional investigative.

Rutherford v. Crosby, 385 F.3d 1300, 1315 (11th Cir. 2004), explained the relative magnitude of the omitted "excruciating life history"

mitigation in <u>Wiggins</u>, unlike here, as extreme, which included "defendant's long history of severe physical and sexual abuse at the hands of his alcoholic mother and various foster parents. Wiggins' abuse included going for days without food, his hospitalization for physical injury, and repeated rapes and gang-rapes." Further, unlike here, there, the omitted abuse was documented in "state social services, medical, and school records," 539 U.S. at 516. Here, Robinson has failed to produce any such readily available records showing such an "excruciating life history."

Here, in contrast with <u>Wiggins</u>, counsels' "reasonable professional judgments support[ed] the limitations on investigation." 539 U.S. at 533 (<u>quoting Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690-91). In any event, as discussed at some length <u>supra</u> at multiple junctures, Robinson's postconviction evidence would not have changed the sentencing outcome to his benefit.

In conclusion, none of Robinson's cases assists him. In contrast to those cases, Robinson failed to demonstrate both <u>Strickland</u> deficiency and <u>Strickland</u> prejudice. His burden was to overcome the strong presumption attached to counsel's performance and prove both deficiency and prejudice. He proved neither.

## <u>ISSUE II</u>: DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR IN SUMMARILY DENYING ROBINSON'S SHACKLING CLAIM? (IB 85-94, RESTATED)

ISSUE II ("Argument II") complains that Robinson's constitutional rights were violated when the trial court maintained some sort of shackles on his legs. The issue is substantially (at IB 87-93) is devoted to an IAC claim contending that his trial attorney should have requested a hearing into the trial court's reasoning for the shackling. By couching his

shackling claim in IAC terms, it appears that Robinson now hopes to by-pass the procedural bar of this Court rejecting his shackling claim on direct appeal.

On direct appeal, this Court held:

Robinson also claims that the trial court's ordering the defendants to remain shackled during trial violated his due process rights. He objected to the shackling, but the court stated it was necessary due to unspecified information received by the court. Robinson, however, never asked the court to explain further, and we see no reversible error here. The court excused the jury and had Robinson's shackles removed before he took the witness stand. A piece of cardboard placed under the defense table to hide the defendants' legs fell over during trial, but Robinson has not shown that the jurors noticed, or were affected by, the shackles. We therefore find no merit to this issue.

Robinson v. State, 610 So.2d 1288, 1290 (Fla. 1992).

The State has six responses to this issue: **First**, Robinson's claim in the trial court was a free-standing shackling claim, and although he mentioned IAC in passing in his postconviction motion, he never alleged any specificity concerning IAC on this subject.

**Second**, because IAC shackling was not actually raised in the trial court as a viable claim, ISSUE II is not the same claim that was raised in the trial court, procedurally barring ISSUE II now.

Third, even if IAC had been alleged with sufficient specificity in Robinson's postconviction motion and remained otherwise viable, it would still be procedurally barred by the direct appeal, as the trial court ruled. ISSUE II is an attempt to re-litigate the direct appeal's shackling claim.

Fourth, if the merits of an IAC claim are reached, Robinson improperly relies on case law that has developed after the 1989 trial; in evaluating

<u>Strickland</u>'s deficiency prong, trial counsel is not responsible for changes in the law.

Fifth, there has not been a requisite showing of <u>Strickland</u> or any other prejudice where, during a lengthy trial, at-most the jury may have only obtained a glimpse of any shackles, and the evidence of Robinson's guilt was overwhelming at trial and is now, with additional DNA results, even more overwhelming that Robinson is guilty of these heinous crimes.

And, **Sixth**, at the time of this trial, the trial court's handling of the shackling was reasonable, especially given the heinousness of the quadruple murders, and therefore any shackling claim, however it might be packaged, is meritless.

# A. Robinson's postconviction motion was facially insufficient to raise an IAC claim, and, in any event, any such claim was waived at the <u>Huff</u> hearing.

As purported support for arguing that this claim was raised in Robinson's postconviction motion, ISSUE II cites to the postconviction record at PC/V 929-34, 973-93, and PC/VI 994-1002. However, in contrast to ISSUE II's focus on IAC, Robinson's postconviction motion failed to allege any specificity whatsoever regarding shackling. Instead, the postconviction motion contested the shackling itself and contested this Court's holding on direct appeal rejecting the shackling claim. As such, the postconviction motion was facially insufficient to raise an IAC claim. The State elaborates.

Robinson's Third Amended Motion to Vacate raised shackling at two junctures: "Claim XII" and "Claim XVII." Neither of the issue statements at the heading of each claim even mentions trial counsel. (See PC/V 929, 973)

Claim XII begins by claiming that Robinson was shackled and "inherently" prejudiced." (PC/V 929) The claim continues by arguing that the trial court did not provide a sufficient reason for the shackling. (Id.) The claim describes some events, and indicates that "Counsel for Mr. Robinson strongly objected." (Id. at 930)

The postconviction motion then alleges that the trial court "never gave the defense a chance to contest" the reason for the shackling, and in the same paragraph conclusorily states: "To the extent defense counsel failed to inquire into the secret intelligence conveyed to the trial judge, counsel were ineffective." Then, that same numbered paragraph resumes its attack on the shackling itself without mentioning anything about IAC. (Id. at 931)

For pages, the postconviction motion continues by attacking shackling and not mentioning anything about IAC. (Id. at 931, 932, 933, and the top of 934) At this juncture, the motion makes another conclusory statement:

"8. To the extent Mr. Robinson's attorney failed to properly preserve this claim for appeal Mr. Robinson received ineffective assistance of counsel.

Murphy v. Puckett, 893 F.2d 94 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990)." (Id. at 934) However,

Murphy, 893 F.2d 94, did not concern shackling at all but rather IAC concerning double jeopardy. The postconviction motion, without any other

explanation regarding IAC, then concluded with two more numbered paragraphs attacking shackling itself. (PC/V 934)

CLAIM XVII, entitled "Shackling Issue," continued along the same lines as Claim XII of the postconviction motion. Its first paragraph argues that his trial counsel interposed "numerous objections," but the trial court "still ruled it necessary to have Mr. Robinson shackled ...." (Id. at 973) It again alleges that Robinson's counsel was not "afforded an opportunity to challenge" the shackling. (Id. 973) The postconviction motion for pages then discusses shackling and the events of the trial without suggesting that trial counsel was deficient. (See Id. at 974-79)

At another juncture, the postconviction motion again essentially states that trial counsel could not have been ineffective because he did all that he could do: "any and all objections, inquiries, and request for further explanation made by Mr. Robinson or defense counsel would have been equally fruitless, unsuccessful, and meaningless." (Id. at 979-80)

On several occasions, the postconviction motion complains about this Court's ruling that denied Robinson's shackling claim on direct appeal.

(See Id. at 977, 982, 985, 986) The postconviction motion complains that this Court mentioned that defense counsel "never asked the court to explain further," but then the motion argues that the "true issue" is not ineffectiveness of counsel but rather whether "the required constitutional safeguards have been met." (Id. at 986)

At this juncture, the postconviction motion resumes its discussion of shackling itself with no discussion of IAC. (See ID. 986-93; PC/VI 994-

1002) Instead, the motion argued that the shackling was "per se reversible error." (Id. 1001)

In sum, the postconviction motion's shackling claims argue for over 35 pages and only mentions IAC twice but buried within other arguments, at a facially deficient conclusory level with no specificity whatsoever, and in the context of other assertions that facially contradict IAC. As such, any claim of IAC based on shackling was insufficiently alleged, and ISSUE II should be rejected on that basis. See Jones v. State, 998 So.2d 573, 587-88 (Fla. 2008)("This Court has consistently held that to be entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a motion claiming ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must allege specific facts establishing both deficient performance of counsel and prejudice to the defendant")(citing Rhodes v. State, 986 So.2d 501, 513-14 (Fla. 2008) (noting that a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel will be summarily denied absent specific factual allegations of both a deficiency in performance and prejudice); Doorbal v. State, 983 So.2d 464, 483 (Fla. 2008) (reminding "attorneys who represent capital defendants of the importance of compliance with minimal pleading requirements to allege a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel" and repeating that insufficiently pled claims "may not receive an evidentiary hearing or be considered by the trial court on the merits"); Spera v. State, 971 So.2d 754, 758 (Fla. 2007) (holding that a motion claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must include facts establishing both deficient performance of counsel and prejudice to the defendant and instructing that the failure to sufficiently allege both prongs results in summary denial of the claim)).

In <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 773 So.2d 34, 39 n.9 (Fla. 2000), the defendant claimed that "(21) Sireci appeared before the jury in shackles in violation of his constitutional right." <u>Sireci</u> explained, 773 So.2d at 39 n.10, that the shackling claim was a matter for direct appeal. There, the claim "should have been raised on direct appeal," and in this case, the claim was actually raised on direct appeal. As here, in <u>Sireci</u>, 773 So.2d at 40-41 n.11, the defendant sought to "circumvent the procedural bar as to the substantive claims by interjecting conclusory allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to raise an appropriate objection or otherwise preserve the issue for appellate review." As here, the IAC claim was facially insufficient.

Moreover, at the <u>Huff</u> hearing, counsel for Robinson discussed the shackling claim in terms of providing an opportunity to present evidence on whether the shackling impaired Robinson or his counsel. The assistant attorney general responded that this is not an IAC claim, and, even if it were, it would be procedurally barred. (PC/VIII 1379-80) Robinson's counsel did not respond to the assertion that this is not an IAC claim. (<u>See</u> Id.) Thus, the facially deficient IAC allegation in the postconviction motion was clarified as not even attempting to raise IAC. As such, any IAC claim was waived in the trial court.

### B. ISSUE II not preserved below.

Because, as discussed in the previous section, ISSUE II was not properly presented below, it is not the same claim that was actually raised in the trial court. See, e.g., Bryant v. State, 901 So.2d 810, 822 (Fla. 2005)("In order to preserve an issue for appeal, the issue 'must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or grounds to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation").

### C. ISSUE II is procedurally barred by the direct appeal.

Even if IAC had been alleged with sufficient specificity in Robinson's postconviction motion and even if it had not been waived at the <u>Huff</u> hearing, it remains procedurally barred by <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 610 So.2d 1288, 1290 (Fla. 1992), which resolved shackling on the merits. <u>Robinson</u> mentions counsel not asking for a hearing, but then discusses the facts surrounding the cardboard and rejects the claim on the merits: "We therefore find no merit to this issue." Accordingly, the trial court ruled:

#### Claims XII and XVII

\*\*\*

In his twelfth claim, Defendant asserts that '[t]he trial court's use of, and failure to prohibit, this "inherently prejudicial practice" without any showing of necessity or any hearing entitles Mr. Robinson to a new trial before an unbiased jury.' He also notes that defense counsel vigorously objected to the procedure employed by the trial court,[FN52] but argues '[t]o the extent Mr. Robinson's attorney failed to properly preserve this claim for appeal Mr. Robinson received ineffective assistance of counsel.' In his seventeenth claim, Defendant elaborates on his earlier claim, stating that the Court worked a 'bizarrely gross injustice[]' when Defendant was shackled during the entire trial, arguing that the Florida Supreme Court erred in its ruling regarding this issue and that the Florida Supreme Court 'failed to address, to admit, and to correct the constitutional errors and violations that Mr. Robinson suffered during said prejudicial trial.' He further argues that the trial

court erred in failing to consider less restrictive means before shackling Defendant, and in failing to make the reasons for shackling part of the court record.

This claim has already been litigated on direct appeal, [FN53] and therefore is procedurally barred. Furthermore, '[a]llegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that post-conviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal'[]. Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995). Even were this not the case, Defendant has failed to demonstrate that counsel performed deficiently, and in fact, concedes that trial counsel objected to the shackling of Defendant on numerous occasions. In addition, Defendant has failed to show that a different result would have been had at trial were it not for the brief potential glimpse of Defendant's shackles during closing argument. Defendant is not entitled to relief on the basis of these claims.

[FN52] <u>See</u> Attachment 7, trial transcript excerpts, pages 31-33. The record reflects that the defense table was covered at the bottom in order to prevent the jury from seeing Defendant's feet and shackles.

[FN53] 'Robinson also claims that the trial court's ordering the defendants to remain shackled during trial violated his due process rights. He objected to the shackling, but the court stated it was necessary due to unspecified information received by the court. Robinson, however, never asked the court to explain further, and we see no reversible error here. The court excused the jury and had Robinson's shackles removed before he took the witness stand. A piece of cardboard placed under the defense table to hide the defendants' legs fell over during trial, but Robinson has not shown that the jurors noticed, or were affected by, the shackles. We therefore find no merit to this issue.' Robinson v. State, 610 So.2d 1288, 1290 (Fla. 1992).

(PC/XIV 2521-22) For the reasons the trial court provided, the trial court should be affirmed. See also, e..g., Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So.2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 1994)("Proceedings under rule 3.850 are not to be used as a second appeal; nor is it appropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue").

As a related point, Robinson v. State, 610 So.2d at 1290, established the law of the case. See Valle v. Moore, 837 So.2d 905, 908 (Fla. 2002)( "A

claim that has been resolved in a previous review of the case is barred as 'the law of the case'")(citing Mills v. State, 603 So.2d 482, 486 (Fla. 1992)), which also bars this issue.

## D. If an IAC claim is entertained, trial counsel is not deficient by not knowing future law.

Most of the cases cited in ISSUE II were decided after the May-June 1989 trial of this case. They do not assist Robinson in demonstrating an IAC claim because defense counsel is not deficient for not knowing future law. See Owen v. Crosby, 854 So.2d 182, 191 (Fla. 2003)(counsel not responsible for case law decided three years later).

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